IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARY ANN SHEFFIELD,

Petitioner, CASE NO.: SC 96,857

vs. L.T. CASE NO.: 1D98-01332

SUPERIOR INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida

Teresa Byrd Morgan Florida Bar No. 0698954 TERESA BYRD MORGAN, P.A. 302 East Duval Street Lake City, Florida 32055 (904) 755-1977

Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mary Ann Sheffield, who was the plaintiff in the trial court, the appellant below, and is the petitioner herein, will be referred to by her full name or as "Mrs. Sheffield."

Superior Insurance Company, who was the defendant in the trial court, the appellee below, and is the respondent herein, will be referred to as "Superior Insurance."

References to the record on appeal will be designated "R-" followed by the appropriate volume number and page number.

References to the transcript of the trial will be designated "T-" followed by the appropriate volume number and page number.

References to Mrs. Sheffield's Initial Brief filed with the First District will be designated "I.B." followed by the appropriate page number, references to her Reply Brief filed with the First District will be designated "R.B." followed by the appropriate page number.

References to Superior Insurance's Answer Brief filed with the First District will be designated "A.B." followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mary Ann Sheffield initiated this action by filing a complaint against Superior Insurance Company (R-I 2-4). She alleged that Superior Insurance had issued to her an automobile liability insurance policy that provided, among other things, uninsured motorist coverage, and that the policy was in effect on December 10, 1994, when she was permanently injured as a result of an automobile accident caused by Linda Kowacz, an underinsured motorist (R-I 2-3). She further alleged that her damages exceeded the liability coverage of Ms. Kowacz's insurance policy, and that Superior Insurance was required by the policy to pay the excess damages but had failed and refused to do so (R-I 3-4).

Superior Insurance denied that Mrs. Sheffield's damages exceeded Ms. Kowacz's insurance policy limits, and alleged, as one of its affirmative defenses, that it was entitled to a collateral source set-off because Mrs. Sheffield had received, or in the future would receive, compensation for injuries and damages from collateral sources (R-I 46).

Prior to trial, Mrs. Sheffield filed a motion in limine in which she sought an order precluding Superior Insurance or its witnesses from presenting any evidence regarding collateral source benefits on the ground that such evidence would be

prejudicial, and would be irrelevant to the issues to be decided by the jury (R-II 91). The court entered a written order reserving its ruling on this issue (R-III 141).

The case proceeded to trial on October 13 and 14, 1997. After opening statements, but prior to the presentation of any evidence, a conference was held in the trial judge's chambers (T-I 6). Because a court reporter had not been present during a motion hearing that took place prior to trial, 1 counsel for Mrs. Sheffield wanted to ensure that rulings stipulations entered into during that hearing were placed on the record (T-I 6). Counsel for Mrs. Sheffield proceeded to confirm that the court had denied Mrs. Sheffield's motion in limine, and had thereby ruled that Superior Insurance would be permitted to present argument and evidence on collateral source benefits received by Mrs. Sheffield, either in the form of insurance or benefits provided by Mrs. Sheffield's employer (T-I 6). Counsel for Mrs. Sheffield confirmed that he had a standing objection to the presentation of argument and evidence of collateral source benefits, and confirmed that such standing objection had not been waived and would not be waived by his being forced, by the court's ruling, to refer to or present evidence on these benefits himself (T-I 7). Counsel for Superior Insurance agreed

¹ During this conference, counsel for Superior Insurance acknowledged that he was responsible for the failure to have a court reporter present at the earlier hearing (T-I 9).

that these rulings and stipulations had been made at the earlier hearing (T-I 6-7). After concluding this conference, counsel for Mrs. Sheffield began presenting her case.

Mrs. Sheffield testified that she was injured when the car in which she was a passenger was struck from behind by a truck (T-I 17). The back of Mrs. Sheffield's head struck the headrest and she was jerked back and forth (T-I 18). The car in which she was a passenger was totaled (T-I 19, 45).

During the days following the accident, she experienced a persistent headache and tightness in her neck and back (T-I 19). She obtained emergency room care and physical therapy during the three weeks immediately following the accident, but continued to experience headaches, back pain, neck pain, and muscle tightness (T-I 22). She then began experiencing numbness and tingling down her back and left arm that, at times, would awaken her from sleep (T-I 22).

She testified that at the time of the accident, she was employed as a medical assistant (T-I 24-25). She lost minimal time from work as a result of the accident, as her work did not require heavy lifting and was primarily performed from a sitting position (T-I 25). She stated that she did experience muscle spasms from time to time while working, and sometimes the doctor for whom she worked gave her an injection of lidocaine, which is a numbing medication (T-I 25, 32). This relieved her headaches

and numbed her muscles so she could continue working (T-I 25-26). She was also able to avail herself of the physical therapy facility located in her work facility from time to time during her work day (T-I 26).

Mrs. Sheffield testified that several different medications had been prescribed for her to ease the pain of the injuries sustained in the accident (T-I 35). She stated that she was able to obtain some of these medications free of charge, because her employer sometimes allowed her to use samples provided by drug representatives (T-I 38, 60). She had to purchase some of her medication, however, because samples were not always available (T-I 60). She received some of her physical therapy free of charge when the physical therapy staff at her place of employment was able to work her into their schedule (T-I 60). She stated that she also had group insurance that helped with the cost of her physical therapy and medication (T-I 38). She stressed that there were, however, no guarantees that these benefits, which were directly associated with her present employment, would continue to be provided to her (T-I 39).

Counsel for Mrs. Sheffield presented deposition testimony from three doctors on the issue of permanency: Dr. Ivan Lopez, a neurologist who was Mrs. Sheffield's initial treating physician; Dr. Rigoberto Puente-Guzman, a physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist who was Mrs. Sheffield's treating

physician at the time of trial; and Dr. Bruce Richards, a neurologist who was hired by Superior Insurance to perform an independent medical examination of Mrs. Sheffield.

Dr. Lopez testified that he treated Mrs. Sheffield from January 1995 until November 1996 (T-I 72, 80). He performed objective tests such as electromyography and nerve conduction studies, and these tests revealed deterioration in the left shoulder muscles, the muscles in the lower extremity, and the paraspinal muscles in the lower back, and abnormal nerve conduction velocity at the lower extremities (T-I 77). In addition, Dr. Lopez testified that he objectively confirmed that Mrs. Sheffield suffered from muscle spasms in the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar areas (T-I 79). He stated that Mrs. Sheffield made only limited improvement during his treatment of her, and that she was still experiencing muscle spasms at the time of the last visit (T-I 80, 82). His ultimate diagnosis was that Mrs. Sheffield suffered radiculopathy of the cervical and lumbar region as a result of the accident (T-I 77).

Dr. Lopez opined that, within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, the injuries Mrs. Sheffield sustained to both the cervical and lumbar regions were permanent (T-I 82). He gave her a permanent impairment rating of 8% of the whole person, and testified that she was permanently restricted from heavy lifting, repeated bending, and stooping (T-I 82-83). He

testified that she would continue to need medical treatment for these injuries on a permanent basis (T-I 83-84).

Dr. Puente-Guzman testified that he first examined Mrs. Sheffield on February 25, 1997 (T-II 146). Her primary complaints at that time were left shoulder pain radiating down the upper extremity, and mid- and low-back pain (T-II 146). He performed several objective tests, such as electrodiagnostic studies and an MRI (T-II 146-151). His ultimate diagnosis was chronic cervical myofascial pain and minor lumbar myofascial pain, meaning that she had injury to the muscular soft tissue in the neck and low back areas (T-II 151). He testified that, within a reasonable degree of medical probability, these injuries were caused by the December 10, 1994, accident and were permanent (T-II 151-152, 177-178). He testified that Mrs. Sheffield was permanently restricted from lifting heavy objects and performing repetitive, strenuous activity (T-II 152). stated that required future treatment would include medication, blood work to monitor the side effects of the medication, continued use of the TENS unit, doctors' visits once or twice a year, and physical therapy (T-II 152-157). Dr. Puente-Guzman stated that, because Mrs. Sheffield's injuries were permanent, this treatment regimen would be permanent also (T-II 153).

The final medical testimony Mrs. Sheffield presented on the issue of permanency came from the deposition of Dr. Richards,

who had been hired by Superior Insurance to perform an independent medical examination (IME). Dr. Richards testified that he performed the IME on June 9, 1995² (T-III. 236). The physical examination revealed mild cervical spasm and spasm in her shoulder girdle muscles (T-III 239). He stated that this did not limit her range of motion or mobility of the neck area (T-III 239). She also had some muscle spasm in the lumbosacral region (T-III 239). His diagnoses were that Mrs. Sheffield had suffered lumbar strain and cervical strain, and that these injuries were permanent (T-III 240).

Additional evidence Mrs. Sheffield presented during trial included testimony from her husband and mother regarding the impact the injuries had on her daily life (T-III 251-264; T-I 97-120); testimony from a pharmacist as to the type and cost of medication Mrs. Sheffield was required to take on a regular and ongoing basis (T-II 126-137); testimony from a medical laboratory manager as to the cost of tests Mrs. Sheffield was required to undergo on a periodic basis (T-II 137-143); and testimony from an economist regarding the present value of Mrs. Sheffield's medical expenses and loss of ability to perform household services (T-II 183-227). Mrs. Sheffield then rested her case.

² Dr. Richards testified later during trial that the entire examination took 45 minutes to one hour (T-III 311).

Superior Insurance presented only two witnesses. First, it presented Eric Moore, a private investigator who testified that he had been retained by Superior Insurance to surveil Mrs. Sheffield (T-III 272). He stated that he videotaped her on three different days (T-III 272). The videotape shows Mrs. Sheffield driving, walking, and talking, in what appears to be a normal manner with normal ranges of motion (T-III 276, 301; R-V 184). Mr. Moore admitted, on cross-examination, that he did not know whether, on the days he videotaped Mrs. Sheffield, she had had a light workday or had received physical therapy (T-III 297-298).

Finally, Superior Insurance called Dr. Bruce Richards to testify in person (T-III 306). He stated Mrs. Sheffield confirmed to him during the examination that her "biggest" problem was the lumbar injury (T-III 322). Dr. Richards stated that while Mrs. Sheffield was still having some problems in the cervical area at the time of the examination, it was not her significant problem (T-III 322). Accordingly, his primary focus during the examination was the lumbar injury (T-III 322). Dr. Richards was asked whether he could rate Mrs. Sheffield with regard to permanency of the injuries to her cervical and lumbar areas (T-III 334). He stated that he would want to observe, during more than one examination, whether the muscle spasms he previously observed were still present (T-III 334-335). He

stated that if, over the course of several examinations, the muscle spasms were still present, he would rate the injuries as permanent (T-III 335). He agreed that, according to the AMA guide, muscle spasms that continue beyond six months are determined to be permanent (T-III 337). Dr. Richards again confirmed during this testimony that Mrs. Sheffield had relatively good range of motion on examination and that her gait was normal (T-III 313, 320). He further stated that he had reviewed the videotape filmed by Eric Moore, and that nothing on that videotape contradicted what he found on his examination (T-III 350).

At the close of Superior Insurance's case, counsel for Mrs. Sheffield moved for a directed verdict on the threshold issue of permanency on the ground that the undisputed evidence in the case, including uncontradicted medical evidence, showed that Mrs. Sheffield had sustained permanent injury as a result of the accident (T-IV 360-362). Superior Insurance objected to the motion on the ground that the surveillance videotape it presented in evidence showed Mrs. Sheffield during the normal course of a day, and stated that the jury was entitled to determine, on the basis of what it observed on the videotape and during the two days of watching her during trial, that she did not have a permanent injury (T-IV 363). The court denied the motion for directed verdict, ruling that there was enough

evidence to send the issue to the jury (T-IV 366).

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Mrs. Sheffield, but awarded her only \$14,873.00 for past medical expenses, and \$2,742.00 for loss of ability to perform household services in the past (R-III 149; T-IV 478). The jury arrived at a figure of \$37,744.92 as damages for medical expenses and loss of ability to perform household services in the future, and stated that the number of years over which those future damages were intended to provide compensation was <u>five</u> (R-III 149). The jury reduced the figure of \$37,744.92 over the five-year period to a present value of \$6,554.61 (R-III 149). Finally, the jury found that Mrs. Sheffield <u>did not</u> sustain a permanent injury as a result of the accident (R-III 150).

Prior to entry of a final judgment, Mrs. Sheffield filed a motion for new trial in which she argued, inter alia, that (1) the trial court erred in refusing to grant her motion for directed verdict on the issue of permanency; and (2) the trial court erred in denying her motion in limine regarding the introduction of collateral source evidence (R-III 187-189). The trial court entered an order summarily denying all issues raised in the motion for new trial with the exception of the collateral source issue. As to that issue, the court found that, if there were any error in the court's ruling, it was harmless as only Mrs. Sheffield's attorney had made any reference to her having

group insurance and, even then, no amounts were stated (R-IV 11-12).

On March 9, 1998, the trial court entered a final judgment in this cause. The final judgment reflected a set-off of \$10,000.00 for the liability coverage provided by Ms. Kowacz's insurance policy, and an additional \$10,000.00 for Mrs. Sheffield's PIP coverage (R-IV 13). Accordingly, final judgment was entered for Mrs. Sheffield in the total amount of \$4,170.22 (R-IV 13).

Mrs. Sheffield appealed the final judgment to the First District Court of Appeal (R-IV 14). On appeal, she asserted that the trial court's denial of her motion in limine was per se reversible error pursuant to this Court's opinion in Gormley v. GTE Products Corp., 587 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1991), and the subsequent Fourth District decision in Wackenhut Corp. v. Lippert, 591 So. 2d 215 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). (I.B. 20-27; R.B. 4-10). Superior Insurance admitted in its Answer Brief that the denial of Mrs. Sheffield's motion in limine was error (A.B. 5-7). Its sole argument in defense of Mrs. Sheffield's appeal of this issue was that such error was harmless (A.B. 5-7).

The First District, in its majority opinion, recognized that the trial court's denial of Mrs. Sheffield's motion in limine was error. However, in a majority opinion authored by Judge Benton in which Judge Miner concurred, the court affirmed the

collateral source issue because it found that Mrs. Sheffield had "invited the error" by being the first to introduce evidence of collateral source benefits. 3 Judge Browning issued a stern dissent to the majority opinion in which he asserted that this Court's opinion in Gormley required reversal of the collateral source issue without exception. He buttressed his position with his citation Wackenhut. Finally, he took the majority to task for asserting that Mrs. Sheffield had somehow waived her right to raise the collateral source issue, even though Superior Insurance had expressly stipulated on the record that she would not waive the issue by introducing such evidence herself. support of his position on the waiver issue, he pointed out that the majority decision conflicts with Porter v. Vista Building Maint. Services, Inc., 630 So. 2d 205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), wherein the Third District held that a party does not waive its previous objection to the admission of evidence where such objection is denied and the party introduces the evidence itself in an attempt to diffuse the impact of the opposing party's being the first to introduce it.

Mrs. Sheffield moved for a rehearing of the collateral source issue. The majority denied her motion, without comment. Judge Browning, however, dissented to the denial of the motion for rehearing and again chastised the majority for refusing to

³ Superior Insurance did not argue in its Answer Brief that Mrs. Sheffield had invited the collateral source error.

follow existing law and for denying Mrs. Sheffield relief based upon reasons "first enunciated by the majority, which were never thought of, much less argued, by [Superior Insurance] to the trial court" or to the First District. Judge Browning further stated that he would certify the case to this Court as being in express and direct conflict with Gormley and Wackenhut.

Also on appeal to the First District, Mrs. Sheffield argued that the trial court committed reversible error when it denied her motion for directed verdict on the threshold issue of permanency. The First District, in its majority opinion, also affirmed this issue, again on grounds not argued either at trial or on appeal. The majority stated that its reading of the record indicated disagreement between Dr. Richards and Dr. Puente-Guzman as to which of Mrs. Sheffield's injuries was permanent, and on that basis it affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion for directed verdict. Judge Browning issued a scathing dissent to the majority's opinion on this issue as well. Judge Browning pointed out that Superior Insurance had <u>never</u> advanced the argument that there was any disagreement among the physicians on the issue of permanency. Rather, Superior Insurance's sole argument at trial and on appeal was that the surveillance videotape provided a basis for submitting the permanency issue to the jury. Judge Browning further asserted that the evidence of permanency was, in fact, substantial and uncontroverted, and that the majority's holding

conflicted with the law set forth in <u>Holmes v. State Farm</u>, 624 So. 2d 824 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). Mrs. Sheffield also raised this issue in her motion for rehearing. As it did with regard to the collateral source issue, the majority denied such motion without comment.

Mrs. Sheffield timely filed a Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court, and both parties subsequently filed jurisdictional briefs. Ultimately, this Court accepted jurisdiction to review this case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both Superior Insurance and the First District agree with Mrs. Sheffield that the trial court clearly erred when it denied her motion in limine, which sought to preclude argument and evidence of any collateral source benefits received by her either through group insurance or through her employment as a medical assistant. On Mrs. Sheffield's appeal of this issue, however, the First District appears to have rejected this Court's holding that the burden to prove that such error was harmless is on the party that urged the trial court to make the erroneous ruling. See Gormley v. GTE Products Corp., 587 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1991). Instead, the court held that Mrs. Sheffield had failed to demonstrate any reason to disturb the trial court's finding in its order denying her motion for new trial that any error in its denial of her motion in limine was harmless.

Even more astonishingly, the First District went on to state that even if the error were not harmless, Mrs. Sheffield invited it because she was the first to introduce evidence of collateral source benefits at trial. The court acknowledged the fact that Mrs. Sheffield had an agreement with opposing counsel that was made on the record and in the presence of the trial judge that she would not be considered to have waived her numerous

objections to such evidence by being forced to present it herself in an attempt to diffuse the impact of Superior Insurance's being the first to introduce the evidence to the jury. However, the First District nevertheless held that Mrs. Sheffield had invited the error when she introduced this evidence at trial. The First District's decision on this issue does not comport with the basic fairness principles on which our trial rules are based, and should not be permitted to stand.

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