IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARY ANN SHEFFIELD, CASE NO.: SC 96,857

Respondent L.T. CASE NO.: 1D98-01332

VS.

SUPERIOR INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner

RESPONDENT'S INTIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On review from the District Court of Appeal, First
District
State of Florida

W. Alan Winter, Esquire Florida Bar No. 398713 WINTER LAW FIRM 310 Third Street Jacksonville, Florida 32266 Phone (904) 242-0222

Fax (904) 242-7051

Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The jury awarded the full amount of past medical damages requested by Appellant at trial, and therefore any effect of collateral sources on future damages was extinguished or minimized by Appellant herself.

Therefore, because the jury's verdict was not affected by the admission of evidence of collateral sources, any error in such admission is harmless. Additionally, by being the first party to affirmatively incorporate and introduce collateral source evidence at trial, Appellant invited error and should not therefore be entitled to benefit from that litigation tactic.

Furthermore, the trial court properly denied

Appellant's motion for directed verdict on the issue of permanency, as there was sufficient lay evidence in the form of a surveillance videotape for the jury to reject the expert testimony as to permanency.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT'S DECISION AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF MS. SHEFFIELD'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL WAS CORRECT AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED ON APPEAL AS ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE OF COLLATERAL SOURCES BY MS. SHEFFIELD RESULTED IN HARMLESS ERROR.

A trial court's decisions are presumed to be correct in the absence of reversible error demonstrated by an appellant. Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee, 377 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 1979). In the case at bar, any error in the admission of testimony regarding collateral sources is harmless error.

For instance, in <u>Stecher v. Pomeroy</u>, 253 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 1971), the court criticized the trial court for permitting the introduction into evidence of the liability limits of the defendant's policy of insurance. Even after hearing that the policy limits were \$100,000, the jury returned a verdict of \$19,000. The court ruled that the introduction of the policy limits was harmless error, because the jury's verdict was not adversely affected.

Similarly, in the case at bar, the jury heard the evidence regarding the treatment Appellant had received in the past, such as the injections and physical therapy. In addition, the record clearly shows that the group

insurance had previously reimbursed the medical office where the plaintiff was employed for those benefits plaintiff had received in the past. When making its award for past medical bills, however, the jury awarded the full amount requested by the plaintiffs. Therefore, it is clear that the jury did not consider these at-work "collateral sources" in its award of past damages.

The instant case is also similar to Snider v. Bancroft Investment Co., 61 So. 2d 184 (Fla. 1952) in which the court could not find "that the jury was influenced by considerations outside the evidence" because no prejudice was specified by the Appellant. the instant case, the Appellant in the Initial Brief refers numerous times to an alleged prejudicial effect of the collateral source evidence, but the only "prejudice" referred to is the "minimal damages awarded in the jury's verdict" (IB 27). However, the damages awarded for past medical expenses are exactly those which Appellant's trial requested in closing argument. Therefore, because Appellant has not pointed out any specific prejudice as a result of the admission of evidence of collateral sources, any error in the trial court's denial of the Motion in Limine is harmless error.

Finally, any prejudice as to the award of future benefits was minimized by Appellant's own testimony at trial. She stated that there was no guarantee that she would receive any group insurance in the future (T 38-39), and Appellant's trial counsel stated in closing argument that she was not seeking any damages for the costs of future injections (T 460). Therefore, because Appellant's own testimony minimized any potential unfair prejudice from this evidence, any error in its admission is harmless.

See, e.g., Mapps v. Wolff, 561 So. 2d 397 (Fla 4th DCA 1990) (redirect testimony neutralized any danger of unfair prejudice, therefore rendering error harmless).

Therefore, because the admission of evidence of collateral sources did not affect the jury's verdict, Appellant was not prejudiced as a result of the admission of such evidence. Thus the error is harmless, and the decision of the lower court should stand.

Superior is mindful that the First District has ruled that the trial court did err when it denied Ms.

Sheffield's Motion in Limine that would have secured an order excluding evidence concerning medical expenses that were being paid by group or other insurance companies, and that the amount she was paying for doctor's visits

and prescription expenses was below the market rate due to her insurance coverage.

It is a record fact that Ms. Sheffield worked in the medical field, in a medical clinic, in Lake City, Florida. Part of the videotape surveillance showed Ms. Sheffield in 'scrubs' that she regularly wore as part of her job. This employment status was well known to the plaintiff, and to her counsel prior to trial, and it was their duty therefore to construct their case presentation so as to insulate Ms. Sheffield from prejudice from those facts.

If Ms. Sheffield chose to include the benefits she received from her employment status as part of her case in chief, she did so at her peril. Ms. Sheffield could have chosen to remove those issues from her case in chief, but she chose to open the door. Counsel for Superior therefore had a duty to respond to those segments of Ms. Sheffield's case that were addressed by her motion in limine.

The trial court's failure to grant Ms. Sheffield's motion in limine confers on her no right to build error into a trial, so as to guarantee two bites at the apple. See Perez v. State, 717 So.2d 605 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

her motion in limine, Ms. Sheffield could have accepted the verdict of the jury, or could have appealed the verdict, having preserved the issue on appeal.

Certainly, if Superior had first introduced the collateral source evidence, Ms. Sheffield would have preserved her right to appeal. However, because Ms. Sheffield ignored the court's ruling, and chose to nevertheless introduce the body of evidence that was the subject of the motion in limine, together with the evidence of Ms. Sheffield getting free medical care and treatment at her employer's clinic, she did so at her peril.

When confronted with a denial by the trial court of

Ms. Sheffield's tactic of eliciting testimony on direct examination, even in light of the trial court's ruling on the motion in limine, precludes reversal for questions within the scope of direct examination.

Superior's cross-examination, otherwise improper, was not improper in this case, based on Ms. Sheffield's trial decisions. See United States v. Gignac, 119 F.3d 67, 69-70 (1st Cir.), cert denied, 118 U.S. 431 (1997); United States v. Johnson, 720 F.2d 519, 522 (8th Cir. 1983); see also United States v. Ohler, 169 F.3d 1200, 1202-04 (9th Cir. 1999); Gill v. Thomas, 83 F.3d 537, 541 (1st Cir.

1996); Wactor v. Spartan Transp. Co., 27 F.3d 347, 350 (8th Cir. 1994); United States v. Williams, 939 F.2d 721, 724-5 (9th Cir. 1991); United States v. Cobb, 588 F.2d 607, 613 (8th Cir. 1978).

Ms. Sheffield, with complete knowledge of the trial court's rulings, proceeded with introducing evidence that she now contends was prejudicial. Ms. Sheffield invited the error that she now invokes as a reason for a new trial. A party may not invite error and then be heard to complain of that error on appeal. Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983); Lentz v. State, 679 So.2d 866 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996); Buggs v. State, 640 So.2d 90 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

Ms. Sheffield cites Gormley as unequivocally ruling that introduction of evidence of collateral source benefits in a liability trial, over objection, is reversible error. Gormley v. GTE Products Corp., 587

So.2d 455 (Fla. 1991). But Gormley does not include the issue of the party seeking the redress being the same party who violated the original rule of evidence. In the case at bar, Gormley can only be used as a starting point, but Gormley does not address the central dispositive issue in this case, which is the conduct of Ms. Sheffield in fashioning her case in chief.

It is significant to note that "invited error" can take many forms. Fuller v. Palm Auto Plaza, Inc., 683

So.2d 654 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); and Guyton v. Village Key & Saw Shop, 656 So.2d 475 (Fla. 1995)(citing Held v. Held, 617 So.2d 358 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). Stipulations have been identified as the source of invited error. Hunter v.

Employers Mutual Liability Ins. Co. of Wis., 427 So.2d

199 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). The submission of improper case law has been held to be the basis of invited error. Risk Management Services, Inc. v. McCraney, 420 So.2d 374

(Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Certainly the submission of issues and bodies of evidence to a jury, where that submission may not produce the result intended by the litigant, can be the subject of invited error. Fuller, pp. 654-5.

It should also be noted that <u>Gormley</u> recognized that "…admission of evidence of a collateral source to reduce damages is reversible error precisely because it prejudices the jury's determination of liability…"

<u>Gormley</u>, p. 456. In the case at bar, liability was not an issue, and therefore, <u>Gormley</u> is distinguishable.

Ms. Sheffield, in Petitioner's Initial Brief on the Merits, also relies on <u>Porter</u>, which was cited by Judge Browning in his dissent of the majority opinion of the First District. <u>Porter v. Vista Building Maintenance</u>

Services, Inc. 630 So.2d 205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). Here again, we have an issue concerning liability and not damages. It should be noted that <u>Porter</u> involved the trial tactic, as recognized by the Third District, of 'diffusing' the issue. <u>Porter</u>, p. 205. The result in <u>Porter</u> indicates that that attempt was completely without success. Plaintiff's counsel in <u>Porter</u> could have crafted his case to omit any mention of collateral source, insurance benefits, or free services.

In the case at bar, which only concerned damages,
Ms. Sheffield's counsel had every opportunity to fashion
his case in chief to avoid introducing or inviting error
on the issue of collateral sources, and he failed to so
do. In reasons that can only be known to Ms. Sheffield
and her counsel, Ms. Sheffield's case was presented in a
manner and in hopes of a return beyond that which
prudence would dictate. There was absolutely no
requirement for a party to submit evidence to a jury,
when that party recognizes inherent problems with the
inclusion of that evidence.

The trial judge, in his Order denying Ms.

Sheffield's motion for new trial found that the admission of the evidence of collateral sources had proven harmless, even if it's original admission was error. The

First District affirmed the trial court's finding on that issue, recognizing that that finding should not be disturbed on appeal. Superior asks that this Court affirm both the trial court's and the First District's ruling on that issue.

Ms. Sheffield has asked this Court to accept jurisdiction of this appeal based on a perceived conflict based on Gormley and similar cases, but the real issue on appeal is whether Ms. Sheffield invited or built error into this case, and is now asking for a new trial based on her conduct and trial strategy. To grant Ms. Sheffield her requested relief would be contrary to Florida law and grossly unfair. Perez, p. 607.

II. THE FIRST DISTRICT'S DECISION AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF MS. SHEFFIELD'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT WAS CORRECT AND THE ISSUE OF PERMANENCY WAS PROPERLY SUBMITTED TO THE JURY.

It is well settled that whether a plaintiff has suffered a permanent injury is an issue for the trier of fact. Easkold v. Rhodes, 614 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 1993);

Darby v. Sheffer, 458 So. 2d 862 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); Rice v. Everett, 630 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). Even though medical evidence may not be within the ordinary experience of jurors, they may still reject expert

medical testimony and rely on lay witnesses in their role as trier of fact. Weygant v. Fort Myers Lincoln Mercury, Inc., 640 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 1994); Shaw v. Puleo, 159 So. 2d 641 (Fla. 1964).

In the case at bar, the jury was free to rely on the surveillance videotape of Appellant and reject the expert testimony that Appellant suffered a permanent injury.

Therefore, the trial court properly submitted the issue of permanency to the jury.

It is Ms. Sheffield's apparent position that the jury must have been misled by the videotape that was played as part of Superior's case in chief, that depicted Ms. Sheffield in apparent good health. It was Ms. Sheffield's argument that the medical evidence left the trial judge with no choice but to direct a verdict finding that she had suffered permanent injury as a matter of fact and law. Granting a motion for directed verdict would have been proper only if there was no evidence upon which a jury could find that Ms. Sheffield's injuries were not permanent. Leisure Resorts, Inc. v. Frank J. Rooney, Inc. 654 So.2d 911, 914 (Fla. 1995). A motion for directed verdict concedes the facts in evidence and in addition, admits every reasonable and proper conclusion based thereon which is

favorable to the adverse party. Hartnett v. Fowler, 94

So.2d 724, 725 (Fla. 1957) (citing Dempsey-Vanderbilt

Hotel v. Huisman, 15 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1943)). Superior

made the issue of whether Ms. Sheffield suffered a

permanent injury a material part of the trial in this

matter, and provided the jury with a sufficient basis to

reach their proper conclusion.

The medical testimony on permanency was mixed at best. Dr. Bruce Richards' testimony provided the jury with additional competent evidence upon which they could rely to find that the issue of a permanent injury was in question.

It was the Columbia County jury's task to resolve conflicting evidence on the issue of permanency, and they completed that task based on the evidence presented.

Easkold v. Rhodes, 614 So.2d 495, 497 (Fla. 1993); Hicks v. Yellow Freight Systems., 694 So.2d 869, 870 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997).

As argued by counsel for Superior at closing, the jury was free to accept the experts' opinion testimony, reject it, or give it the weight that the jury thought it deserved, considering the knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education of the witness, the reasons given by the witness for the opinions expressed, and all other

evidence in the case. Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Civ.) 2.2(b).

Finally, because the jury's finding of no permanent injury was consistent with the surveillance videotape, the jury's verdict should be affirmed. Anheuser-Busch, Inc., v. Campbell, 306 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975)(jury verdict entitled to all reasonable inferences to be drawn from evidence, and is presumed correct).

CONCLUSION

Because the Appellant has not demonstrated reversible error in either the admission of evidence of collateral source benefits or the jury's determination of permanency, this Court should affirm the decisions of the lower court.

Superior request this Court to find that this case does not involve a conflict between the districts but in fact involves the invitation of error by Appellant, for which she should receive no relief.